FILE COPY

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS, WEST VIRGINIA

22

DOCKET NO.: 20-0503

5003

T&C CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, LLC, a West Virginia Corporation, and THEODORE MILLER, Respondent Below/Petitioner,

V.

CITY OF ST. ALBANS, Petitioner Below/Respondent. DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

**PETITIONERS' BRIEF** 

Shawn D. Bayliss, WVSB #6863
Bayliss Law Offices

3728 Teays Valley Road

Hurricane, West Virginia 25526

(304) 562-7810

(304) 562-7899 (fax)

baylisslaw.offices@gmail.com

Counsel for Petitioners

##

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioners aver that the Kanawha County Circuit Court did not have proper jurisdiction over this matter such that it committed error by granting the City's Motion to convert the municipal court judgment to a decretal judgment and appointing a special commissioner to conduct a sale of said property to satisfy the same.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case originated in the Municipal Court of St. Albans, Kanawha County, West Virginia (hereinafter "the City"), wherein the City fined the Petitioners for various violations of the municipal fire codes and building codes resulting in a judgment in the cumulative amount of One Hundred Ninety- Eight Thousand One Hundred Fifty Dollars (\$198,150.00).

The City then filed an action in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia to convert the municipal court judgment to a decretal judgment, to take control of the subject property, to terminate tenancies and to sell the property to satisfy the judgment. (AR2). The Circuit Court held a hearing on April 8, 2022, wherein no testimony was adduced, but rather the Court based all of its finding upon the proffer of parties' respective counsel (Transcipt Pages 3 through 5). The Court approved both of the underlying municipal court orders dated August 24, 2021, which awarded the City \$81,250 for violations of the City of St. Albans Fire Code and \$116,900.00 for violations of the City of St. Albans Building Code and Zoning Laws. (AR16) and granted the City a decretal judgment for the same.

The Circuit Court also Ordered the Petitioners to cease and desist operating all residential premises, and appointed the City's counsel as special commissioner to conduct a sale of the Petitioners' property. (AR16) to satisfy said judgment. It is from The Circuit Court's May 15, 2022 order that the Petitioners now seek a reversal and vacation.

To that end, Petitioners assert that West Virginia Code § 38-3-9 provides that:

The lien of a judgment may be enforced in a court of equity after an execution or fieri facias thereon has been duly returned to the office of the court or to the justice from which it issued showing by the return thereon that no property could be found from which such execution could be made: Provided, That such lien may be enforced in equity without such return when an execution or fieri facias has not issued within two years from the date of the judgment. If it appears to such court that the rents and profits of the real estate subject to the lien will not satisfy the judgment in five years, the court may decree such real estate, or any part thereof, to be sold and the proceeds applied to the discharge of the judgment.

Accordingly, it is Petitioners' position that the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia's Order is void from the start as it did not have proper jurisdiction to grant the same.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred and by granting the City's Motion and Ordering the Petitioners to cease and desist operating all residential premises, granted the City a decretal judgment in the requested amount and appointed the City's counsel as special commissioner to conduct a sale of the Petitioners' property. (AR16). Pursuant to the City's own motion, they requested the Court to take certain action to convert and reduce the municipal court judgments to a decretal judgment. However, the Circuit Court exceeded its authority in granting a cease a desist order in the absence of any evidence to support the same, and in authorizing the City to execute upon said judgment by appointing a special commissioner to sell the Petitioner's Property.

To that end, Petitioners assert that West Virginia Code § 38-3-9 provides that:

The lien of a judgment may be enforced in a court of equity after an execution or fieri facias thereon has been duly returned to the office of the court or to the justice from which it issued showing by the return thereon that no property could be found from which such execution could be made: Provided, That such lien may be enforced in equity without such return when an execution or fieri facias has not issued within two years from the date of the judgment. If it appears to such court that the rents and profits of the real estate subject to the lien will not satisfy the judgment in five years, the court may decree such real estate, or any part thereof, to be sold and the proceeds applied to the discharge of the judgment.

Accordingly, this Court should accept the Petitioners' perfected appeal to determine whether such enumerated error(s) exist.

#### V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioners request that the Court permit them to present oral argument should the Court determine that issues should be addressed in said manner. If the Court determines that oral argument is not necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision. Otherwise, a memorandum decision overturning the circuit court's rulings below is appropriate pursuant to Rule 21 of the *Rules of Appellate Procedure*.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard(s) of Review

Petitioners contest two (2) rulings made by the Kanawha County Circuit Court. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals stated in Syllabus pt. 2 of *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988), that "In the exercise of appellate jurisdiction, this Court will reverse a trial court which exceeds its lawful jurisdiction."

The Court may accord plenary review to matters involving statutory interpretation: "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Syl. pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). Accord Syl. pt. 1, Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep't of West Virginia, 195 W. Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995) ("Interpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to de novo review.")

Generally, when a circuit court's decision is under review, this Court applies a three-part standard of review:

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, we apply a two-prong deferential standard of review. We review the final order and the ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. Syllabus Point 2, *Walker v. West Virginia Ethics Comm'n*, 201 W.Va. 108, 492 S.E.2d 167 (1997). As the various errors raised by the plaintiff concern different principles of law, multiple standards of review apply to our consideration of those issues. Therefore the specific standards of review will be applied below in our discussion of the plaintiff's arguments. *Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny*, 228 W.Va. 48, 717 S.E.2d 235 (W. Va. 2011)

B. The Kanawha County Circuit Court did not have proper jurisdiction over this matter such that it committed error by granting the City's Motion to convert the municipal court judgment to a decretal judgment and appointing a special commissioner to conduct a sale of said property to satisfy the same.

As this Court is aware, West Virginia Code § 38-3-9 provides that:

The lien of a judgment may be enforced in a court of equity after an execution or fieri facias thereon has been duly returned to the office of the court or to the justice from which it issued showing by the return thereon that no property could be found from which such execution could be made: Provided, That such lien may be enforced in equity without such return when an execution or fieri facias has not issued within two years from the date of the judgment. If it appears to such court that the rents and profits of the real estate subject to the lien will not satisfy the judgment in five years, the court may decree such real estate, or any part thereof, to be sold and the proceeds applied to the discharge of the judgment.

In the matter of *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988), the Court stated in Syllabus Pt. 1, that, "In order to give a circuit court jurisdiction to entertain a judgment lien creditors' suit to subject the real estate of the judgment debtor to the lien of the judgment, it must appear that an execution was first issued directed to the sheriff of the county wherein the judgment debtor resides, if a resident of this state, and that such execution was returned 'no property found'." Syllabus, *Lewis v. Fisher*, 114 W.Va. 151, 171 S.E. 106 (1933).

In the instant matter, the Circuit Court exceeded its authority and entered an order granting an injunction without sufficient evidence to support the same. However, the greater foul is that the Circuit Court granted the City authority to execute upon a judgment, a judgment not yet recorded, by authorizing the appointment of special commission to undertake the sale of the Petitioners' property in violation of the procedures outlined in *West Virginia Code* § 38-3-9.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has previously concluded that *West Virginia Code* § 38-3-9 creates two categories of creditors suits. The first category is composed of those suits conducted within two (2) years after the date of the judgment giving rise to the creditor's lien. The second category consists of those suits conducted more than two years after the date of the judgment giving rise to the judgment lien. *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988) and *Lewis v. Fisher*, 114 W.Va. 151, 171 S.E. 106 (1933).

This matter falls within the first category of suits, as the City's municipal court judgment was granted by Order dated August 24, 2021<sup>1</sup>, a period of less than (8) months prior to the inception of the Circuit Court action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The St. Albans Municipal Court Order is not part of the record listed in the Official Court Docket Sheet.

In regard to first category actions, this Court has uniformly indicated that those conducted less than two years after the date of the judgment giving rise to the judgment lien, the issuance and return of an execution (a fieri facias) is a condition precedent to a circuit court's obtaining jurisdiction to enforce the judgment lien. *Cooper v. Mullenax*, 126 W.Va. 256, 28 S.E.2d 426 (1943); *United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co. v. Eary*, 116 W.Va. 477, 181 S.E. 817 (1935); *Lewis v. Fisher*, 114 W.Va. 151, 171 S.E. 106 (1933).

In the single syllabus of Lewis v. Fisher, supra, the rule is stated as follows:

In order to give a circuit court jurisdiction to entertain a judgment lien creditors' suit to subject the real estate of the judgment debtor to the lien of the judgment, it must appear that an execution was first issued directed to the sheriff of the county wherein the judgment debtor resides, if a resident of this state, and that such execution was returned "no property found".

The *Lewis* Court further opined that, "the purpose of this rule is to require the judgment creditor first to make a bona fide effort to obtain satisfaction of his debt by proceeding legally against the judgment debtor's personalty before allowing him to resort to the more drastic equitable remedy of forcing the sale of the judgment debtor's real estate.

Secondly, the rule also intended to provide a mechanism to notify the judgment debtor within two years after entry of the judgment that his land will be sold unless he satisfies the judgment." *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988)

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County, acted upon the City's motion to execute upon a judgment that was granted in the same order, without notice to all potential creditors, without sufficient evidence to support its injunction ruling, and without statutory authority/jurisdiction to act upon the same. No evidence was adduced regarding the process for any remedies available to rectify the purported underlying fire and building code violations such that there remains the unanswered question of possible rents and profits from said property that may possibly satisfy the judgment(s) otherwise.

The paltry record herein does not show that the City obtained an execution on their judgment nor that an execution was returned "no property found" prior to filing of its' circuit court action. Under such circumstances *West Virginia Code* § 38-3-9, as interpreted in *Jarvis v*. *Porterfield* and *Lewis v*. *Fisher*, clearly indicates that the Kanawha County Circuit Court was without jurisdiction to entertain the City's creditor's suit. Moreover, it is the exhaustion of the debtor's personal estate that gives jurisdiction to proceed against his land within two years from the date of the judgment. This exhaustion of the personal estate need not be proven and in fact need not actually exist, but the statute requires a return "no property found" as a means of making a jurisdictional showing to that effect. *Hall v. McGregor*, 65 W.Va. 74, 64 S.E. 736 and *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988).

Syllabus point 3 of *Hinkle v. Bauer Lumber and Home Building Center, Inc.*, 158 W.Va. 492, 211 S.E.2d 705 (1975) provides that: "In the exercise of appellate jurisdiction, this Court will reverse a trial court which exceeds its lawful jurisdiction.". *Jarvis v. Porterfield*, 370 S.E.2d 620, 179 W.Va. 525 (W. Va. 1988).

Accordingly, it is clear that the Kanawha County Circuit Court acted without proper jurisdiction over this action, and should have dismissed the City's case from its docket.

Lastly, the Petitioners aver that no evidence was presented in support of the cease and desist/injunction order beyond the limited proffer of counsel. Accordingly, there cannot be sufficient evidence within the record to support the Court's findings and conclusion as the entirety of said order is built upon its own-condemnable house of cards.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Petitioners T&C Construction Services, LLC and Theodore Miller request that this Court reverse the decision of the Kanawha County Circuit Court as being improper in that the Court lacked jurisdiction over the matter pursuant to *West Virginia* Code § 38-3-9, and that there was not sufficient evidence, rather there was no evidence, to support a cease and desist order nor any other findings. Further, that this matter be remanded with instructions to enter an order in support of their arguments, and for such other and further relief as the Supreme Court of Appeals deems appropriate herein.