# FILE COPY

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS, WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-0503

T&C CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, LLC, a West Virginia Corporation, and THEODORE MILLER,

Respondent Below/Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF ST. ALBANS,

Petitioner Below/Respondent,



DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

## RESPONDENT'S REPLY BRIEF

Counsel of Respondent
Timothy J. LaFon, WVSB#2123
Ciccarello, Del Giudice & LaFon
1219 Virginia Street, East, Suite 100
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
304.343.4440 – Phone
304.443. 4464 – Fax
tlafon@cdlwv.com – E-Mail

## I.

## III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent City of St. Albans will agree with Petitioner's Statement of the Case except for the Respondent City of St. Albans does not believe West Virginia Code § 38-3-9 has any applicability in this matter. The Code Sections that are appropriate are West Virginia Code § 8-11-1 Ordinances to Make Municipal Powers Effective; . . ., West Virginia Code § 55-12-1 applicable to Judicial Sales and City of St. Albans Municipal Code § 1711.05 allowing Mayors and West Virginia Municipalities to seek injunctive relief to enforce its Building Codes.

## IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in granting the City of St. Albans' Motion for a Cease-and-Desist Order/Injunction. In addition, the Circuit Court did not err in appointing a Special Commissioner to do all matters necessary to ultimately sell the property at issue in this case.

West Virginia Code § 8-11-1 reads as follows:

A municipality may also maintain a civil action in the name of the municipality in the Circuit Court of the County in which the municipality or major portion of the territory of the municipality is located to obtain an injunction to compel compliance with or to enjoin a violation or threatened violation of any ordinance of the municipality and the Circuit Court has he <u>jurisdiction</u> to grant the relief that is sought. . .

In addition, West Virginia Code § 55-12-1 states as follows:

A Court in a suit properly pending therein may make a decree or order for the sale of property in any part of the state and may direct the sale for cash or for such credit and terms it may be deem best and it may appoint a Special Commissioner or Special Receiver to make such sale.

In addition, the St. Albans Municipal Code § 1711.05 gives any municipality authority to seek an injunction to enforce its Building Codes.

St. Albans Municipal Code 1711.05(c) <u>Injunctive Relief</u>. In this case of any unlawful acts, the Mayor or such person as the Mayor

may designate, is hereby authorized and empowered to institute and maintain a suit to <u>restrain</u> by injunctions the violation of the Building Code notwithstanding the penalty for the violation thereof.

11 191

Therefore, clearly the Circuit Court had proper jurisdiction in this matter, and it is premature to argue that the Special Commissioner did not go through the appropriate statutory requirements for selling the property as a Stay was granted at the Circuit Court level to allow this appeal before any action could be taken as to the sale of the property.

## V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests that the Court permit them to present oral argument as this case presents unique issues with contrasting positions as to statutory interpretation. In addition, this is appropriate for Rule 19 argument in that the Petitioner claims an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing the discretion is settled and further that this case is a narrow issue of law.

## VI. ARGUMENT

The Kanawha County Circuit Court did not err in that it has proper jurisdiction over the enforcement of municipal ordinances and judgments obtained at a municipal court criminal proceeding. This matter arose as a result of the Petitioner's multiple and numerous dangerous violations of the City of St. Albans Municipal Fire Code and Building Code. After multiple violations and the Petitioner's failure to remedy the same, the Petitioner was cited at the City of St. Albans and a trial was conducted in which certain fines were levied against the Petitioner. These fines amounted to a total \$198,150.00. The appeal period applicable to this municipal court criminal judgment expired and as a result of the Petitioner's failure to remedy such problems and continued violations the lawsuit before the Kanawha County Circuit Court ensued. The relief sought in said Complaint sought a cease-and-desist/injunction order from the Circuit Court

bringing the business operations of the Petitioner at the rental facility which was the subject of the fines to a halt because of the danger imposed to the Lessees of said property.

. .

In addition, as a result of the Petitioner's failure to satisfy the fines imposed by the City of St. Albans, the City of St. Albans through its lawsuit sought the ability to enforce said fines and to enforce its Fire and Building Codes.

The Petitioner now challenges jurisdiction of the Circuit Court and claims that the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction applicable to this matter and cites West Virginia Code § 38-3-9. There is no proceeding that occurred in this matter in which any jurisdiction under West Virginia Code § 38-3-9 was imposed or sought. Therefore, the entire argument that the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction in this matter proffered by the Petitioner is inappropriate.

The City of St. Albans Municipal Code 1711.05 gives the City of St. Albans the absolute authority to seek injunctive relief from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia to enforce its Building Codes and to restrain violations of the same. West Virginia Code § 8-11-1(c) states that any municipality may also maintain a civil action in the municipality in the Circuit Court of the county in which the municipality or major portion of the territory of the municipality is located to obtain an injunction to compel compliance with or to enjoin a violation or threatened violation of any ordinance of the municipality and the Circuit Court has jurisdiction to grant the relief sought.

Therefore, the entire argument of the Petitioner that the Circuit Court does not have jurisdiction over this matter is simply wrong. The City of St. Albans litigated the violation of the municipal Fire Code and Building Code at the Municipal Court level. The Petitioner failed to appeal said decision. Any substantive argument as to whether the Petitioner is in violation of the City Ordinances has been waived and is *res judicata*. Evidence was proffered at the hearing of

this matter before the Circuit Court that the Petitioners failed to remedy these Municipal Code Violations and these violations were ongoing. The Respondent, City of St. Albans sought an injunction from the Circuit Court and appointed a Special Commissioner to, among other things, issue letters to the tenants of said building that they must vacate the premises as a result of the danger of the building in question. The above statutes give the Circuit Court the appropriate jurisdiction to grant said relief.

In addition, the Petitioners T&C Construction and Theodore Miller argue that the Circuit Court has no jurisdiction to appoint a Special Commissioner. West Virginia Code § 55-12-1 grants the Court the specific ability to liquidate any real estate in a case that is properly pending before it. The Petitioner argues that the sale of the real estate is not appropriate prior to a *writ of a fieri facias* being filed and answered. Of course, this argument is dramatically premature because the appointed Special Commissioner was not given any opportunity to fulfill any statutory requirements or properly proceed with the sale of the property before the Stay to allow this appeal was entered. The only action that had been taken by the Special Commissioner was efforts to have the premises vacated in order that the safety of its residents could be protected.

The Petitioners' reliance upon West Virginia Code § 1711.05 is simply misplaced when a municipality is seeking to enforce its Fire and Building Codes and enforce a payment of a fine properly that has not been appealed and to attempt to stop further violations of the same and see to the safety of its citizens.

Therefore, it is clear that the Kanawha County Circuit Court had appropriate jurisdiction in the matter.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Given the fact that the Petitioner T&C Construction Services LLC and Theodore Miller only argument presented to this Court is that the Circuit Court did not have jurisdiction this Appeal should be denied, and the Circuit Court's Order upheld. Clearly pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8-11-1 the Circuit Court has appropriate jurisdiction in this matter and therefore the Respondent seeks this Honorable Court to deny the relief sought and for such and further relief this Court deems appropriate.